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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE  

WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI, CENTRAL DIVISION 

 

THE A.W. SMITH LAW FIRM, P.C.,  ) 

       ) 

   Plaintiff,    ) 

       ) 

v.      ) Case No. 19-cv-4080 

 ) 

JAIME M. OLANDER, individually,  ) 

Serve:       ) 

 Jaime M. Olander    ) 

 10700 Meridian Avenue, Suite 109  ) 

 Seattle, Washington 98133   ) 

       ) 

And       ) 

       ) 

TIGER MOUNTAIN LAW GROUP, P.S., ) 

D/B/A WASHINGTON LAW GROUP  ) 

Serve:       ) 

 Jaime M. Olander    ) 

 10700 Meridian Avenue, Suite 109  ) 

 Seattle, Washington 98133   ) 

       ) 

And       ) 

       ) 

KOMRON M. ALLAHYARI, individually, ) 

Serve:       ) 

 Komron “Mike” Allahyari   ) 

 3740 90th Ave SE    ) 

 Mercer Island, Washington 98040  ) 

       ) 

   Defendants.   ) 

 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY JUDGMENT  

TO DETERMINE VALIDITY OF ATTORNEY LIEN, AND IN THE ALTERNATIVE; 

COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATION OF THE R.I.C.O. ACT 

 

 COMES NOW Plaintiff, The A.W. Smith Law Firm, P.C., for its Complaint against 

Defendants, and states as follows: 
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Parties 

1. Plaintiff The A.W. Smith Law Firm, P.C. (hereinafter “SLF”) is a Missouri 

professional corporation with its principal place of business in Columbia, Boone County, Missouri. 

2. Defendant Jaime M. Olander (hereinafter “JMO”) is an individual resident attorney 

of the State of Washington who owns and operates Tiger Mountain Law Group, P.S., d/b/a 

Washington Law Group, in Seattle, Washington, which may be served with process at 10700 

Meridian Avenue, Suite 109, Seattle, Washington, 98133. 

3. Defendant Tiger Mountain Law Group, P.S. is a State of Washington professional 

business entity that is doing business as Washington Law Group (hereinafter “WLG”) and it may 

be served with process at 10700 Meridian Avenue, Suite 109, Seattle, Washington, 98133. 

4. Defendant Komron “Mike” Allahyari (hereinafter “Mike”) is an individual resident 

former attorney of the State of Washington and former owner of WLG and former partners with 

JMO, and he may be served with process at 3740 90th Avenue Southeast, Mercer Island, 

Washington 98040. 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

5. This Court has jurisdiction of this cause pursuant to Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1332 

as complete diversity of citizenship exists between Plaintiff and Defendants and the amount in 

controversy is in excess of Seventy-five Thousand Dollars ($75,000) exclusive of interest and 

costs. 

6. This Court has jurisdiction over Defendants in that they asserted an attorney’s lien 

on a civil cause of action filed in the State of Missouri. 
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Facts of the Dispute 

7. On February 20, 2017, Fulton, Missouri resident David Hyde was killed at a 

construction site in the State of Minnesota when a large steel pilon weighing over 2,000 lbs fell 

off his truck and crushed him to death. 

8. The truck had possibly been loaded incorrectly at a loading facility near Kansas 

City, Missouri, and the case was reported in the local mid-Missouri news. 

9. On or about March 9, 2017, JMO’s former partner “Mike”, with the knowledge and 

consent of JMO, contacted David Hyde’s surviving wife, Avianka Hyde, via telephone about 

representing her in a wrongful death claim for her husband’s death. 

10. At that time, Avianka Hyde was not a lawyer, did not have a family member close 

to or prior professional relationship with JMO, WLG, or “Mike”, and did not consent to the contact, 

making Defendant JMO’s and “Mike’s” direct telephone solicitation in violation of Washington 

Rules of Professional Conduct 7.3 and Missouri Rules of Professional Conduct 4-7.3. 1 

11. During the phone call, Defendant “Mike” apparently advised Avianka Hyde that 

she should contact SLF, Eng & Woods Law Firm, or the Van Camp Law Firm about further 

representation in a wrongful death claim. 

12. On March 9, 2017, Avianka Hyde contacted SLF and scheduled an appointment for 

an interview. 

13. On March 9, 2017, JMO sent SLF an email stating that WLG was “referring” a 

client to SLF and that the referral was being made on JMO’s understanding that WLG would 

receive 1/3 of any attorney’s fee. 

                                                 
1 SLF did not know about this ethical violation until mediation. 
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14. On or about March 10, 2017, JMO called SLF via telephone and stated that WLG 

represented Avianka Hyde and that he was referring his client to SLF. 

15. On March 20, 2017, Avianka Hyde retained SLF to represent her and her three (3) 

minor children in a wrongful death lawsuit for the death of David Hyde. 

16. On June 30, 2017, SLF filed a wrongful death lawsuit in Circuit Court of Jackson 

County, State of Missouri, on behalf of Avianka Hyde and her three (3) minor children. 

17. On or about September 14, 2017, SLF entered into a co-counsel arrangement with 

Bartimus Frickleton Law Firm (hereinafter “BLF”) to share the work, fees, expenses on a 50/50 

basis and each of those law firms assumed joint responsibility for the case. 

18. Avianka Hyde provided written consent to the co-counsel arrangement between 

SLF and BLF.   

19. SLF and BLF litigated the wrongful death lawsuit for two (2) years, hiring four (4) 

expert witnesses, taking sixteen (16) depositions, traveling to Minnesota and Alabama, and filing 

numerous motions and pleadings with the court. 

20. On March 8, 2018, JMO requested that SLF send him a copy of the contingent fee 

agreement, stating: “I know in Missouri the client needs to agree in writing to our association”. 

21. Later that day SLF sent JMO a copy of a contingent fee agreement and stated that 

“We have language in our contract that covers this issue”. 2  

22. On March 25, 2019, 28 days from the scheduled trial date, SLF and BLF attended 

a mediation and reached a confidential settlement agreement for the Hyde wrongful death lawsuit 

against the loading facility. 

                                                 
2 SLF incorrectly thought that JMO and WLG were keeping in contact with Avianka Hyde and 

providing her with legal services and counseling about the wrongful death litigation. 
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23. The same day as the mediation, Avianka Hyde informed SLF that she had never 

hired JMO or WLG and that they had never represented her in any capacity. 

24. Avianka Hyde also informed SLF the day of mediation that JMO, WLG, or “Mike” 

had never had any other contact with her besides the initial phone call and a follow-up call, both 

over two years prior to the settlement, to confirm that she had retained SLF. 

25. Avianka Hyde then confirmed that JMO’s former partner “Mike” had called her on 

her cell phone seventeen (17) days after her husband was killed, before she had begun to look for 

a lawyer, and that she had no prior relationships with JMO, “Mike”, or the WLG, whatsoever.     

26. SLF then informed BLF about the issue concerning JMO and WLG and the alleged 

co-counsel fee arrangement. 

27. On April 4, 2019, SLF notified JMO that it could not share a co-counsel fee with 

WLG because Avianka Hyde never hired that firm, WLG did not do any of the attorney work, 

share in the expenses, or share in any of the responsibilities; and that payment of a share of the fee 

would violate well-settled Missouri law on co-counsel fee sharing. See Eng v. Cummings, 611 F.3d 

428 (8th Cir. 2010).  

28. On April 9, 2019, JMO and WLG sent SLF a letter asserting an attorney’s lien on 

1/3 of the attorney’s fees from the Hyde wrongful death settlement proceeds. 

29. On April 10, 2019, JMO and WLG offered to pay 1/3 of the expenses to SLF and 

BLF in an apparent attempt to “share” in the expenses, despite knowing that the case was already 

settled and that it, therefore, had no risk of not recovering the expenses. 

Requested Relief 

30. An actual controversy exists between the parties as Defendants have made a claim 

and asserted an attorney’s lien on 1/3 of the attorney’s fees for the Hyde wrongful death case and 
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Missouri Supreme Court Rule 4-1.5 prohibits Plaintiff from paying a 1/3 referral fee” to 

Defendants. 

31. This court is authorized by 28 U.S.C. Section 2201 to declare the rights and 

liabilities of the parties.  

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays the court to enter its declaratory judgment herein, pursuant 

to 28 U.S.C. Section 2201, declaring that Defendants have no rights to a “1/3 referral fee” for the 

Hyde wrongful death matter; that Plaintiff is not liable to Defendants for a “1/3 referral fee”; that 

Plaintiff is prohibited by Rule 4-1.5 from paying Defendants a “1/3 referral fee”; for such other 

and further orders as the Court deems just and proper and for the costs herein.  

Alternative RICO Violation 

32. On January 10, 2011, Komron “Mike” Allahyari resigned from the State of 

Washington’s Bar Association in lieu of disbarment for, among other things, “dishonesty, fraud, 

deceit or misrepresentation”. 

33. On September 13, 2018, the United States District Court for the Western District 

of Washington at Seattle entered a federal IRS tax lien against Komron “Mike” Allahyari in the 

amount of $3,910,470.35. See United States v. Allahyari, 2018 WL 4357487. 

34. JMO, WLG, and “Mike” were at all times herein operating a RICO enterprise as 

that term is defined by 18 U.S.C. Section 1961(4), for the purpose of committing mail and wire 

fraud in violations of 18 U.S.C Section 1341 and 18 U.S.C Section 1343. 

35. The common purpose of this RICO organization’s activities was to defraud clients 

and attorneys for attorney’s fees in personal injury and wrongful death cases in which the RICO 

organization never actually represented the clients. 
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36. From September 15, 2016, through September 20, 2018, this RICO organization 

attempted to “refer” seven (7) personal injury clients to the SLF by emails from JMO all of which 

stated that his former partner “Mike” had been in contact with the client and the case was being 

referred with the understanding that WLG would receive 1/3 of any contingent fee. 

37. Other than the Hyde case, JMO and WLG attempted to refer cases involving the 

following clients to SLF: Lawrence Wright (on September 15, 2016); Travis Clay on (January 11, 

2017); Sally Erickson (on February 2, 2017); Terry Luster (on May 30, 2017); Ruth Smith (on 

June 1, 2017); and John Redelfs (on September 20, 2018). 

38. All other cases were ultimately declined by SLF, except for the Hyde case.  

39. JMO’s former partner “Mike” sent solicitation letters and/or made cold phone calls 

to these clients stating that he was “no longer practicing law and was in the non-profit business of 

helping clients find lawyers”. 

40. After “Mike” hooked the client for a “referral”, JMO would send an email to SLF 

stating that he was “referring” a client and then would follow up with a phone call to SLF asserting 

that he was “referring” a client that WLG represented. 

41. The activities between JMO, WLG, and “Mike” were all done in furtherance of the 

common and shared purpose of the RICO enterprise and the pattern over the course of two (2) 

years is a pattern of racketeering activity. 

42. Upon information and belief, JMO, WLG, and “Mike” have made the same referral 

scheme to several other law firms in the State of Missouri over the past several years. 

43. The telephone calls and solicitation letters sent by “Mike” violated 18 U.S.C 

Section 1341 and 18 U.S.C Section 1343, in that “Mike” was a part of the RICO organization’s 
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scheme to defraud clients and attorneys of attorney’s fees and “Mike” knowingly used interstate 

U.S. Mail and telephone calls to facilitate the scheme. 

44. The telephone calls made by JMO violated 18 U.S.C Section 1343, in that “JMO” 

was a part of the RICO organization’s scheme to defraud clients and attorneys of attorney’s fees 

and JMO knowingly made interstate telephone calls to facilitate the scheme. 

45. In the event this Court declares the WLG attorney lien to be valid, Plaintiff has been 

damaged in the amount of the attorney lien this Court declares. 

46. Defendants’ violation of the RICO Act was the proximate cause of any damages 

suffered by Plaintiff and Plaintiffs is therefore entitled to treble damages under 18 U.S.C. Section 

1961(1)(B, D), (5), 1962, 1962(c, d), 1964(c). 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays that the Court enter its judgment herein, pursuant to 18 

U.S.C. Section 1961(1)(B, D), (5), 1962, 1962(c, d), 1964(c), granting Plaintiff damages in the 

amount of three (3) times the attorney fee declared by this Court, and for such other and further 

orders as the Court deems just and proper and for the costs herein.  

 

      Respectfully submitted, 

 

      THE A.W. SMITH LAW FIRM, P.C. 

 

       BY:  /s/ T. Drew Schauffler       

      T. Drew Schauffler, MO Bar #56530 

      2100 WEST BROADWAY 

      COLUMBIA, MO 65203 

      (573) 777-3333 

      (573) 443-7301 FAX 

      dshauffler@awsmithlaw.com 

 

      ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF 

Case 2:19-cv-04080-WJE   Document 1   Filed 04/23/19   Page 8 of 8

mailto:dshauffler@awsmithlaw.com

